A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

None. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S 
ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether any additional remedy is necessary where the 
findings of fact/conclusions of law regarding pretrial 
motions were initially signed by a judge who hadn't heard 
the pretrial motions, but where the findings and conclusions 
have now been signed and entered by the judge who did 
hear the motions and the findings and conclusions do not 
differ substantially from those originally signed. 

2. Whether an erroneous finding as to when the passenger 
gave her purse to the deputy and whether the erroneous 
written findings that the passenger testified at the CrR 3.6 
hearing substantially affect the trial court's conclusions 
where the court concluded that the passenger's consent to 
search was voluntary and defendant on appeal does not 
contest the consensual nature of the search and where the 
trial court's ruling at the time was not predicated on the 
trial testimony of the passenger and the relevant substance 
ofthe findings was otherwise testified to in the CrR 3.6 
hearing. 

3. Whether the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress 
can be upheld on the court's alternative ruling that the 
passenger voluntarily consented to the search of her purse 
and person where defendant didn't contest the 
voluntariness of the passenger's consent below and does 
not contest it on appeal. 

4. Ifthe appellate court does not affirm on the alternative 
ruling for the suppression motion, whether the defendant 
had automatic standing to contest the search of the 
passenger's purse and person where the passenger removed 
her purse from the defendant's car, had been told she was 
free to leave, the defendant was handcuffed in the back of 
the patrol car at the time of the search and the defendant 
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disavowed possessing the drugs or drug paraphernalia at 
the scene. 

5. Whether the sentencing judge categorically refused to 
consider defendant's request for sentencing alternatives 
where the judge stated before sentencing that he didn't 
know ifhe'd be inclined to sentence outside the standard 
range since he hadn't heard the trial testimony but where 
the judge subsequently considered the sentencing 
memoranda and indicated that given defendant's long 
criminal history a mid-standard range sentence would be 
appropriate. 

C. FACTS 

1. Procedural. 

Appellant Teresa Russell was initially charged with Unlawful 

Possession of a Controlled Substance, to-wit: Cocaine, but ultimately went 

to trial on the unlawful possession charge as well as one count of bail 

jumping, one count of intimidating a witness, and one count of tampering 

with a witness. CP 89-91, 118-19. Russell filed pretrial motions to 

dismiss the case and for suppression of evidence, which were heard and 

denied by Judge Snyder. CP 121-30; SRP 97-98, 115-120. 1 At trial the 

jury found her guilty only of the unlawful possession of a controlled 

substance and the bail jumping counts. CP 49. 

I The verbatim report of proceedings for pretrial motions and the trial are referenced by 
"RP" and for sentencing as "SRP." 
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2. SUbstantive2• 

On January 9, 2010, Russell was observed by Whatcom County 

Sheniffdeputies driving away from a gas station. RP 11-13,35. The 

deputies were aware that there was probable cause to arrest her for 

rendering criminal assistance. RP 12. One of the deputies activated his 

lights, and while Russell slowed the car down, she did not pull over and 

stop, despite room to do so. RP 13,36. That deputy, Dep. Gervol, saw 

Russell lean over to the right and furtively move her arm around in the 

passenger side of the car. RP 14. Once Russell finally pulled over, Dep. 

Gervol approached the car and arrested Russell for rendering criminal 

assistance. SUpp. CP ------.:> Sub Nom. 117 (hereinafter "FF"), FF 1; RP 15, 

37. 

Russell waived her Miranda rights and told the deputies that she 

needed her methadone which was in the car, or she would get sick. 3 FF 2; 

RP 16,37-40. Russell voluntarily consented to a search of her car. FF 2; 

RP 17. Helen Kluck, who had been a passenger in the car, was asked to 

exit the car so that the canine could search the car for drugs and was told 

2 As Russell does not challenge any of the evidence submitted at trial or any rulings 
therein, the State addresses only the facts regarding the erR 3.6 hearing here, some of 
which she does dispute. Facts regarding the sentencing hearing are addressed in that 
section of the brief. 
3 Russell also told the deputy that she had other pills that weren't unlawful in the car. RP 
17. 
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that she was free to go. FF 4; RP 18, 41-42. Kluck moved away from the 

car but remained in the area and spoke voluntarily with Dep. Taddonio. FF 

5; RP 18, 42. Russell asked the deputies to ask Helen if she would be 

willing to take her car so that it wouldn't be impounded. FF 5; RP 18-19, 

44. 

The drug dog alerted to the car but no drugs were found inside the 

car. FF 6. Given the dog's alert, Dep. Taddonio asked Kluck whether she 

was aware ifthere were any drugs in the car, and she immediately became 

nervous. RP 43-44. Kluck initially denied having any drugs on her person 

and started to pat herself down. RP 45. Dep. Taddonio asked her ifhe 

could search her purse, and she picked it up, opened it, and started sifting 

through its contents for the deputy. RP 45, 61, 63. Dep. Taddonio said 

something to her about wanting to look through the purse himself, and she 

gave the purse to him. RP 45, 63. Kluck said something about preferring 

he not look at the personal items in her purse, because she had tampons in 

it. RP 46, 63. He told her it didn't matter to him, and asked again ifhe 

could search her purse. RP 46, 63. Kluck told him she'd rather he didn't, 

and the deputy said he understood that she would rather he didn't, but 

asked again ifhe could search her purse, and this time she said he could. 

RP 46, 63. 
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Dep. Taddonio found a glass pipe used to smoke cocaine inside the 

purse, and Kluck told him Russell had given him the pipe. RP 47. Kluck 

appeared to be deceitful and was still acting nervous, so the deputy asked 

her how much narcotics she had on her, and she admitted she had some 

and began to reach for her pocket. RP 47. Inside her front pocket was a 

bindle of cocaine. RP 49. Dep. Taddonio asked if there were any other 

drugs and she denied any other items. RP 49. Dep. Taddonio arrested 

Kluck and started to place her into the patrol car. RP 49-50. While doing 

so, Kluck told him she had to get something for him and pulled another 

pipe out of her pants. RP 50. Dep. Taddonio then asked her if she had any 

other drugs concealed on her, and she admitted she had more cocaine in 

her underwear. RP 50-51. Later while she was being booked into jail, she 

voluntarily retrieved the cocaine and gave it to the deputy. RP 51. 

At some point after her arrest, Kluck admitted to the deputy that 

the pipe in her purse and the cocaine in her pants pocket were hers, but the 

pipe and drugs inside her pants were Russell's. RP 53, 71. Kluck said that 

Russell had given her the items to hide when the deputies had been trying 

to stop them. RP 53, 71. Kluck said that they had gotten the bindles of 

cocaine in Burlington in Russell's car, and that it was Russell's contact 

from whom they had gotten the drugs. RP 53-54. Kluck said they were 
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headed to Russell's house to use the drugs when they were stopped. RP 

54. 

Once Dep. Gervol became aware that Helen had been found to 

have drugs on her, he told Russell that. RP 21. Russell admitted to Gervol 

that was true, that she herself, however, did not possess the drugs, but that 

they had picked the drugs up in Burlington and had intended to smoke the 

drugs together at her house while watching television. FF 11; RP 21-22, 

55. 

Russell testified at the 3.6 hearing that Kluck was an acquaintance 

of hers, that Kluck had asked her to drive Kluck to Burlington to pick up 

something someone owed Kluck. RP 74-75. Russell testified that on the 

way back from the grocery store, where Kluck had met up with the person, 

Russell told Kluck she was going home to watch movies and invited 

Kluck to join her. RP 75-76. Russell testified that Kluck told her that 

Kluck had a surprise for her, but didn't say what it was. RP 76-77. Russell 

testified that she didn't stop when the police tried to pull her over because 

she didn't realize they were behind her, there was no place to pull over in 

the area and she knew there was a church nearby, so she drove there so the 

car wouldn't have to be towed. RP 77-78. Russell testified she knew she 

was going to be arrested about having rendered criminal assistance to a 

friend, and that she may have been reaching for a cigarette in her purse or 
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to get the registration before she pulled over. RP 78-79. Russell denied 

giving any drugs or paraphernalia to Kluck and denied knowing that 

Kluck had drugs on her. RP 79-80. She also denied telling the deputy that 

Kluck had drugs on her or that they were going to share any, but testified 

that she did give consent for her car to be searched. RP 81. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. The rmdings of fact and order regarding the 
pretrial motions should have been entered by the 
judge who heard the motions, and the fact that 
they now have remedies that error. 

The State concedes that the findings of fact and conclusions of law 

were originally signed off on by a judge who had not heard the 

suppression hearing and pretrial motions and who therefore could not 

lawfully enter the written findings of fact and conclusions oflaw. See, 

State v. Bryant, 65 Wn. App. 547, 829 P.2d 209 (1992) (commissioner 

was without authority to enter findings orally made by judge who had 

heard the disposition hearing). However, subsequently the judge who did 

hear the pretrial motions signed off on the suppression hearing findings 

and conclusions. The State moved pursuant to RAP 7.2(e) to permit entry 

of those findings, Russell did not object, and this Court granted entry of 

those findings and conclusions. See Supp. CP _, Sub Nom. 117, 118, 

119. As noted in the State's RAP 7.2 motion, the findings and conclusions 
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signed off on by Judge Snyder, the judge who heard the pretrial motions, 

did not differ substantively or significantly from those previously entered. 

Therefore, the entry of those findings by Judge Snyder remedies the 

previous error and no further remedy is required due to that error. 

2. Any errors the trial court made regarding the 
findings of fact were not significant and do not 
adversely affect the trial court's denial of the 
motion to suppress. 

Russell asserts that some of the written findings regarding the CrR 

3.6 hearing are erroneous. While there are some errors in the findings, 

none of them substantively impact the court' s conclusions oflaw. Russell 

fails to demonstrate how the errors affect the court's conclusions.4 

In general a trial court' s conclusions oflaw on a motion to 

suppress are reviewed de novo. State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761 , 224 P.3d 

751 (2010). A trial court's decision regarding a CrR 3.6 motion is 

reviewed on appeal to determine whether substantial evidence supports the 

findings of fact, and then whether those findings of fact support the trial 

court' s conclusions oflaw. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 

4 Furthermore, the errors contained in findings of fact no. 7, 8, 9 and 10 have no affect 
whatsoever on the validity of the issue of whether Russell had standing to assert a 
violation of Kluck's constitutional rights regarding the search of her purse. Therefore, 
while Russell contends the trial court erred regarding the automatic standing issue, if this 
Court reaches the standing issue and the trial court's ruling is affirmed, then the effect of 
any errors within findings offact no. 7, 8, 9 and 10 is moot. 
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313 (1994). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. State v. 

O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). Challenged findings of 

fact supported by substantial evidence are binding. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 

571. Substantial evidence is evidence in the record sufficient "to persuade 

a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding." Hill, 123 Wn.2d 

at 644. A court's oral findings can be used to supplement the court's 

written findings as long as they don't contradict the written findings. State 

v. Bynum, 76 Wn. App. 262,266,884 P.2d 10 (1994), rev. den., 126 

Wn.2d 1012 (1995). 

a. finding of fact no. 7 

Russell asserts that finding of fact 7 is not supported by substantial 

evidence in the record in that it indicates that Kluck handed the deputy her 

purse after the deputy asked for clarification about whether he could 

search it. Russell is correct that Kluck gave her purse to the deputy before 

the deputy ultimately clarified with Kluck as to whether or not she would 

consent to his searching her purse. RP 45-46, 63-64. However, whether 

the clarification to search came before or after Kluck gave the deputy the 

purse, does not change the fact that Kluck consented to the search of her 

purse. Moreover, Russell's CrR 3.6 motion was not predicated upon 

Kluck's consent to search her purse, but upon whether Kluck had been 
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illegally detained pursuant to State v. Larson5 and State v. Grande6, and 

whether Kluck's statements to the police were involuntary and therefore 

should be suppressed. RP 98-106; CP 96-106. 

Russell does not contest on appeal the voluntariness of Kluck's 

consent. While Russell has asserted error regarding the trial court's 

conclusion oflaw no. 3, that "The search of Helen Kluck's purse, 

revealing used drug paraphernalia was voluntary as a product of consent 

and the productions of the cocaine bindle in her pocket was voluntary," 

Russell did not assign error to Conclusion of Law no. 1 that, "The 

Defendant did not possess any of the drugs at the time Helen Kluck 

consented to the search of her purse and person at a location well away 

from the Defendant and her car." Russell does not argue on appeal that 

the Kluck's consent was not voluntary. Therefore, the error of finding of 

fact in no. 7 as to when Kluck gave her purse to the deputy does not affect 

the validity of the trial court's conclusion that Kluck consented to the 

search of her purse. 

5 State v. Larson, 93 Wn.2d 638, 611 P.2d 771 (1980). 
6 State v. Grande, 164 Wn.2d 135, 187 P.3d 248 (2008). 
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h. findings of fact 8, 9 and 10 

Russell also contends there is no substantial evidence in the erR 

3.6 testimony to support findings of fact 8, 9 and 10 since Kluck did not 

testify at the erR 3.6 hearing. Russell is correct that Kluck did not testify 

at the suppression hearing, and thus, those findings are incorrect in that 

they reflect that Kluck testified to certain information. However, most of 

what is stated to have been Kluck's testimony was in the record at the erR 

3.6 hearing based on the deputy's testimony regarding what Kluck told 

him, and any errors do not affect the court's conclusions regarding the 

denial of the motion to suppress. 

While Kluck's testimony at trial did confirm the deputy's account 

regarding the search of her purse at the erR 3.6 hearing, Kluck did not 

testify at the erR 3.6 hearing, and as such, findings of fact no. 8,9 and 10 

are erroneous to that extent. However, the deputy's account of Kluck's 

voluntary consent is otherwise contained in finding of fact no. 7. 

Similarly, the deputy otherwise testified to much ofthe relevant substance 

contained in findings no. 9 and 10. 

The deputy testified at the hearing that after he placed Kluck into 

the patrol car, she complained about the cuffs being too tight, so he 

permitted her to get out ofthe patrol car and took one cuff off her arm. RP 

50. When he did so, Kluck pulled her arm quickly to the front, so the 
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deputy grabbed it. Kluck told him she had to get something for him and 

pulled the pipe out of her pants. RP 50. When he asked her if she had any 

other drugs concealed on or in her pants, she admitted that she had some 

more cocaine in her underwear, which she subsequently produced at the 

jail. RP 50-51. The deputy testified that Kluck told him that Russell had 

given her Russell's pipes and drugs to hide on her person when the police 

were trying to stop them and that was the reason for the delay in the car 

stopping, that Kluck told him they had obtained the drugs in Burlington 

from a contact of Russell's, that they had gone there in Russell's car and 

they had been going to Russell's residence to use the drugs when they 

were stopped. RP 49, 53-54. 

While Kluck didn' t testify at the CrR 3.6 hearing about how she 

produced the second pipe and drugs for the deputy and what she said after 

being arrested as set forth in findings of fact 9 and 10, the deputy did. 

Therefore, while it is erroneous that Kluck testified to those things at the 

CrR 3.6 hearing, the majority of what is stated in the finding no. 9 and 10 

was testified to by the deputy.7 While Kluck's trial testimony should not 

7 The deputy did not testify that Kluck had secreted the cocaine "in her vagina," and he 
testified that she told him about the additional cocaine after he asked her if she had any 
other drugs. The deputy did not testify that Kluck told him she gave Russell her money 
and that Kluck had "selected the bindle from Defendant's hand." The other deputy 
testified that Russell told him they were going to Russell's house to watch television and 
to consume the drugs. RP 22. 
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have been included in the findings of fact for the suppression hearing, 

Kluck's testimony, ifit had been produced at the suppression hearing, 

merely would have corroborated the deputy's. Furthermore, it's clear that 

Kluck's testimony was not before the court when it made its oral decision 

and obviously was not dispositive of the court's ruling on the suppression 

motion. Russell argues that the findings are erroneous and therefore 

reversal is warranted. She has failed to demonstrate how any errors in the 

findings render the related conclusion(s) erroneous. 

3. This Court need not reach the issue of automatic 
standing because the trial court alternatively 
determined that the passenger's consent to 
search the purse was voluntary and her 
production of the bindle of cocaine was 
voluntary. 

Russell also challenges the court's determination that she did not 

have automatic standing to contest the search of Kluck's purse and person. 

As noted above, the court also determined, however, that the search of the 

purse was not unlawful because Kluck voluntarily consented to the search 

and subsequently voluntarily produced the bindle of cocaine from her 

pocket. Arguably, Russell waived any issue regarding the search of 

Kluck's purse based on consent because below she only asserted that the 

search of the purse was unlawful as a product of Kluck' s illegal detention 
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and her unlawfully obtained statements. RP 98-106; CP 96-106; see, State 

v. Garbaccio, 151 Wn. App. 716, 731, 214 P.3d 168 (2009), rev. denied~ 

168 Wn. 2d 1027 (2010) (defendant waives ability to assert an issue on 

appeal ifhe failed to move for suppression on that basis in the trial court) 

(emphasis added). 

Setting aside the issue of waiver, Russell still has failed to 

demonstrate on appeal why the trial court erred in determining that Kluck 

voluntarily consented to the search of her purse and that her production of 

the cocaine was otherwise voluntary. While Russell assigned error to the 

court's conclusion, she does not provide any argument on appeal as to 

why the court's conclusion was erroneous or unsupported by the findings 

and therefore has abandoned the ability to contest the court's conclusion 

that the Kluck voluntarily consented to the search. See, Valley View 

Industrial Park v. Redmond, 107 Wn.2d 621,630, 733 P.2d 182 (1987) 

(failure to brief issue to which error was assigned in opening brief 

abandons it on appeal); accord, State v. Grewe, 59 Wn. App. 141, 145, 

796 P.2d 438 (1990), rev'd in part on other grounds, 117 Wn.2d 211 

(1991) ("A party abandons assignments of error if they are not argued in 

its brief'). 

Also, as noted above, while the court's written finding about when 

Kluck gave the deputy her purse was erroneous, the rest of the finding of 
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fact no. 7 is uncontested, and the timing of the production of the purse 

does not provide a basis to overturn the court's ruling that the search of the 

purse was pursuant to Kluck's voluntary consent and the subsequent 

production of the first bindle of cocaine was voluntary. Moreover, while 

Kluck was under arrest at the time she produced the second drug pipe and 

second bindle of cocaine, it's clear from the facts that her production of 

those were voluntary: she produced the second pipe from her underwear 

when the deputy let her out of the patrol car to assist her with her cuffs, 

and she produced the second bindle at the jail prior to being searched there 

and after informing the deputy at the scene that she had more cocaine 

concealed on her person. 

The trial court's conclusion that the search of Kluck's purse was 

pursuant to her voluntary consent and that the bindles of cocaine were 

voluntarily produced by Kluck should be upheld. Therefore, even if

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