NO. 68814-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

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

Wn. 2d __ (2013); State v. Rehak, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992) (same). Instead, examples abound of defendants being precluded from presenting even relevant evidence because of routine applications of the rules of evidence.

For instance, in State v. Thomas, this Court held that the exclusion of a defense expert's testimony under ER 702 – on the grounds that the evidence was not helpful to the trier of fact - did not violate the constitutional right to present a defense. 123 Wn. App. 771, 781, 98 P.3d 1258 (2004); see also State v. Willis, 113 Wn. App. 389, 54 P.3d 184 (2002), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 151 Wn.2d 255, 87 P.3d 1164 (2004) (same). In State v. Finch, the Washington Supreme Court held that the exclusion of the defendant's self-serving hearsay did not violate his right to present a defense. 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) ("A defendant's right to admit evidence pursuant to his right to compulsory process is subject to established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence."). In Rehak, Division II held that foundational requirements for admissibility of other-suspect evidence do not violate a defendant's right to present a defense. 67 Wn. App. at 162-63.

By contrast, Gray does not offer a single case in which the rules of evidence were suspended so that a defendant could present his defense. Gray's claim that he had a constitutional right to ignore the strictures of ER 404(b) so that he could present propensity evidence relating to Travers must be rejected.

 Federal case law does not support suspending the operation of ER 404(b) when evidence is offered by a defendant.

Gray points to numerous federal cases in support of his argument that ER 404(b) should not apply to evidence offered by criminal defendants. But federal cases interpreting federal rules of evidence are persuasive only if the language of the rule at issue is ambiguous and in need of interpretation. Moreover, the federal criminal cases cited do not support Gray's argument. While several federal circuits are inconsistent in their approach to ER 404(b) analysis, none has allowed the admission of pure propensity evidence, and none has suggested that the application of Rule 404(b) to exclude evidence proffered by a defendant deprives that defendant of his constitutional right to present a defense.

To interpret a rule of evidence, a court employs the same principles used to construe statutes. <u>City of Bellevue v. Hellenthal</u>, 144 Wn.2d 425, 431, 28 P.3d 744 (2001). Although the court must discern the intent of the drafting body in construing any rule, the starting point is the rule's plain language. <u>Id.</u> If the rule is unambiguous, the court gives effect to its plain meaning. Id.

Here, the rules of evidence unambiguously apply to all parties to any litigation. Evidence Rule 101 provides: "These rules govern proceedings in the courts of the State of Washington to the extent and with exceptions stated in Rule 1101." There is no provision that in any way limits the application of the rules to the prosecution alone. Moreover, ER 404(b) has no language limiting its scope to evidence offered by the prosecution or to acts committed by a defendant. Instead, the rule prohibits evidence to prove the character "of a person," not any particular person. ER 404(b). Indeed, the only case cited by Gray for the proposition that "reverse 404(b) evidence" has been recognized in Washington stands exactly for the principle urged here: the strictures of ER 404(b) apply to both parties in a criminal case. State v. Young, 48 Wn. App. 406, 412-13, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987) (reversing a conviction because Young's proffered evidence should have been

admitted pursuant to ER 404(b) as proof of identity, control, and absence of mistake).

Despite the unambiguous nature of the evidence rules, Gray turns to federal cases to support his argument that ER 404(b) does not apply to evidence offered by defendants. The State agrees that, when faced with interpreting an ambiguous Washington rule of evidence, federal cases may provide persuasive authority. In re Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d 382, 392 & n.9, 229 P.3d 678 (2010). But, as discussed above, Washington's rule is not ambiguous. Moreover, the federal cases Gray cites do not support his position that exclusion of sheer propensity evidence violates his constitutional right to present a defense.

The seminal case on "reverse 404(b) evidence" is <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Stevens</u>, 935 F.2d 1380 (3d Cir. 1991). As explained in that case, "reverse 404(b) evidence" is merely evidence, admitted pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence (FRE) 404(b), that is offered by the defendant instead of (as is more commonly the case) the prosecution. Id. at 1401-02. As such, the case primarily stands for the unremarkable proposition that the rules of evidence apply with

⁷ Indeed, Judge Richard Posner has suggested a more apt name for the evidence would be "nondefendant Rule 404(b) evidence." <u>United States v. Murray</u>, 474 F.3d 938, 939 (7th Cir. 2007).

equal force to both parties in a criminal case. <u>Id.</u> at 1404 (rejecting the government's contention that defendants may offer evidence pursuant to FRE 404(b) only under limited circumstances). The <u>Stevens</u> court further observed that, once evidence meets the admissibility criteria of FRE 404(b), it would be subject to the balancing of probative value against prejudicial effect as required by FRE 403. <u>Id.</u> at 1404-05 (citing <u>State v. Garfole</u>, 76 N.J. 445, 388 A.2d 587 (1978), with approval).

The only notable holding of the <u>Stevens</u> court is that, in evaluating the admissibility of other crimes committed by other suspects in order to prove identity (i.e., to prove that the other individual who committed the other crime likely committed the crime at issue as well), the standard of similarity is lower than it would be if the State were offering the evidence, because the prejudicial effect is lower. <u>Id.</u> at 1403-05. This is effectively an observation about balancing under ER 403 – where prejudicial effect is lower, the probative value of the evidence may be lower without rendering the evidence inadmissible.

The Third Circuit further addressed its <u>Stevens</u> holding in <u>United States v. Williams</u>, 458 F.3d 312 (3d Cir. 2006). There, the court explained that "the prohibition against propensity evidence

applies regardless of by whom – and against whom – it is offered."

Id. at 317. Moreover, the court clarified that there is no need to engage in ER 403 balancing unless and until the court first determines that the evidence is admissible under ER 404(b). Id.

Other circuits have agreed with this approach. See, e.g., United States v. McCourt, 925 F.2d 1229, 1234-35 (9th Cir. 1991)

("Evidence of 'other crimes, wrongs, or acts,' no matter by whom offered, is not admissible for the purpose of proving propensity or conforming conduct, although it may be admissible if offered for some other relevant purpose."); United States v. Lucas, 357 F.3d 599, 606 (6th Cir. 2004) ("We therefore hold that the standard analysis of Rule 404(b) evidence should generally apply in cases where such evidence is used with respect to an absent third party, not charged with any crime.").

Although Gray characterizes a number of federal cases as holding that FRE 404(b) does not apply when the evidence is offered by a defendant in support of his defense, many of those cases are instead simply a straightforward application of FRE 404(b). For instance, in <u>United States v. Seals</u>, 419 F.3d 600, 606-07 (7th Cir. 2005), the Seventh Circuit approved of the Third Circuit's reasoning in <u>Stevens</u>, yet excluded evidence of other

crimes committed by other suspects because the crimes were too dissimilar to constitute modus operandi to prove identity.⁸ In <u>United States v. Montelongo</u>, 420 F.3d 1169 (10th Cir. 2005), the Tenth Circuit acknowledged <u>Stevens</u>, and admitted 404(b) evidence as relevant to the defendant's lack of knowledge. In other words, it admitted the evidence for one of the "other purposes" listed in FRE 404(b).

Other federal cases imply a distinction between the use of FRE 404(b) to admit prior acts of the defendant and use of the rule to admit prior acts of third parties, but still appear to apply the rule in all cases. For instance, in <u>United States v. Morano</u>, 697 F.2d 923, 926 (11th Cir. 1983), the Eleventh Circuit held that, "Rule 404(b) does not specifically apply to exclude this evidence because it involves an extraneous offense committed by someone other than the defendant." However, the evidence at issue was not propensity evidence, but evidence relevant to identity and common plan, and thus admissible under the rule.

⁸ Gray claims that <u>Seals</u> departed from <u>Agushi v. Duerr</u>, 196 F.3d 754 (7th Cir. 1999), which applied a standard FRE 404(b) analysis of the admissibility of other acts evidence offered regarding a third party. This claim is belied not just by the <u>Seals</u> court's own use of FRE 404(b) to evaluate the admissibility of evidence, but by subsequent Seventh Circuit cases that both cite <u>Seals</u> and apply a traditional 404(b) analysis. <u>See, e.g., United States v. Savage,</u> 505 F.3d 754, 760-61 (7th Cir. 2007); <u>United States v. Murray</u>, 474 F.3d 938, 940 (7th Cir. 2007).

Further, the Morano court held that, although FRE 404(b) was not directly applicable, "the exceptions listed in the Rule should be considered in weighing the balance between the relevancy of this evidence and its prejudice under Rule 403." Id.; see also Glados, Inc. v. Reliance Ins. Co., 888 F.2d 1309, 1311-12 (11th Cir. 1987) (citing Morano); United States v. Aboumoussallem, 726 F.2d 906 (2d Cir. 1984) (recognizing a difference between evidence of acts committed by a defendant and acts committed by a third party, but ultimately characterizing the proffered evidence as relevant to knowledge and plan); United States v. Gonzalez-Sanchez, 825 F.2d 572, 583 (1st Cir. 1987) (suggesting that FRE 404(b) does not apply to acts committed by individuals other than the defendant, but approving the admission of the evidence as to intent and to rebut lack of knowledge).

The federal case that perhaps mostly strongly supports

Gray's position is <u>United States v. Krezdorn</u>, 639 F.2d 1327,

1332-33 (5th Cir. 1981). There, the Fifth Circuit observed that a

primary policy consideration underpinning FRE 404(b) – evidence

that a defendant has a criminal disposition will be improperly used

by a jury to conclude that he committed the instant offense – is not

applicable when the evidence sought to be introduced pertains to a

third person. Therefore, the <u>Krezdorn</u> court recognized that it was arguable that FRE 404(b) would not apply to such evidence.

However, the court ultimately declined to decide whether

FRE 404(b) applied, holding instead that the challenged evidence was properly admitted either way.⁹ <u>Id.</u>

Overall, the federal cases are inconsistent in their consideration of evidence offered pursuant to FRE 404(b) regarding acts done by a person other than the accused. They do have some common threads, however. The cases universally acknowledge the uncontroversial proposition that such evidence of other acts can

Krezdorn, 639 F.2d 1327 at 1332-33 (footnote omitted).

⁹ Gray's lengthy quotation from <u>Krezdorn</u>, Appellant's Brief at 13, leaves out some critical language. The entire relevant paragraph reads as follows, with emphasis added to show sentences, other than citations, not quoted by Gray:

This evidence involves an extraneous offense committed by a person other than the defendant. Arguably, this is not the kind of evidence to which Rule 404(b) applies. "The extrinsic acts rule is based on the fear that the jury will use evidence that the defendant has, at other times, committed bad acts to convict him of the charged offense." United States v. Aleman, 592 F.2d 881, 885 (5th Cir. 1979). Consequently, where the only purpose served by extrinsic offense evidence is to demonstrate the propensity of the defendant to act in a certain way, the evidence must be excluded. When, however, the extrinsic offense was not committed by the defendant, the evidence will not tend to show that the defendant has a criminal disposition and that he can be expected to act in conformity therewith. When the evidence will not impugn the defendant's character, the policies underlying Rule 404(b) are inapplicable. It would seem, therefore, that when extrinsic offense evidence is sought to be introduced against a criminal defendant, in order to trigger the application of Rule 404(b) there must be an allegation that the extrinsic offense was committed by the defendant. We need not decide, however, whether Rule 404(b) applies to this situation since the evidence of the monetary payments is admissible whether or not Rule 404(b) applies.

be offered by any party to a case when offered for the "other purposes" enunciated in the rule. They do not sanction the use of propensity evidence by any party. And, they do not hold that the exclusion of the defendant's proffered propensity evidence constitutes a violation of his constitutional right to present a defense.

In short, none of the federal cases help Gray. He did not offer evidence pursuant to ER 404(b). Rather, he offered evidence in spite of ER 404(b). No matter what standard of balancing pursuant to ER 403 a trial court employed, his evidence would still be inadmissible. Evidence offered to prove propensity is universally barred by ER 404(b).

2. EVEN IF THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUPPRESSING TRAVERS' PRIOR CONVICTIONS, ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Even if this Court should somehow find that the trial court's suppression of Travers' two misdemeanor assault convictions was an abuse of the court's discretion, the error was harmless because there is no reasonable likelihood that the admission of such evidence would have affected the jury's verdict.

Where the error is not of constitutional magnitude, courts apply the rule that "error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." State v. Robtoy, 98 Wn.2d 30, 44, 653 P.2d 284 (1982). "Evidentiary errors under ER 404 are not of constitutional magnitude." State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986). A trial court's erroneous ER 404(b) rulings are not reversible error "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984).

The jury was instructed that "[n]o person may, by an intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense and thereupon use, offer, or attempt to use force upon or toward another person."

CP 25. Here, numerous witnesses described Gray on the night of the stabbing as roaming the neighborhood looking for a fight, threatening innocent bystanders, and aggressively insulting his ultimate victim, Travers. 2RP 32, 38, 82-83, 111. While Gray was armed with a knife when he told Travers that he would return to rape his wife and shoot him, Travers was barefoot and in a tank

top, asking Gray to leave. 4RP 115. The jury instruction, when applied to the evidence, spoke directly to Gray's actions against Travers, and made it unlikely that any reasonable juror, when faced with the testimony of the victim and witnesses, would find that Travers was the first aggressor, even if he had been convicted of assault in the fourth degree against his sister three years earlier.

The likelihood that evidence of Travers' prior assault convictions would have altered the result of the case is more remote when the videotape evidence is considered - Gray stabbed Travers repeatedly on camera, in front of an approaching police vehicle. Exhibit 6. It is extraordinarily unlikely that a reasonable juror who saw the evidence would have been swayed by something as remote and irrelevant as evidence that, three years prior, Travers had been convicted of assaulting his sister. Even as far as propensity evidence goes, two misdemeanor assault convictions against a person's sister hardly speak to that person's propensity for violence in a street fight situation against a grown man. Tellingly, the jury not only convicted Gray of assault in the first degree, but found that his attack on Travers was actually premeditated, by finding him guilty of attempted murder in the first degree. CP 57-60. Any evidence of Travers' past convictions

would not make it more likely that Travers was the first aggressor to a group of jurors that believed that Gray, who did not know Travers at all, had premeditated Travers' death before he stabbed him.

Because the evidence that the trial court suppressed would not have materially affected the outcome of the trial, any error suppressing the prior convictions was harmless, and this Court should affirm the conviction.

D. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the defendant's conviction should be affirmed.